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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF OHIO
WESTERN DIVISION
Glenn Graffet al,
No. 1:09-cv-670
Plaintiffs,
Judge Susan J. Dlott
V.
: Order Dismissing the First Cause of
Haverhill North Coke Companyt al, : Action in Part and Dismissing the Second
: Cause of Action
Defendants.

This matter is before the Court on Plaintifsief of Violations that Can Proceed after
Entry of lllinois Consent Bcree (Doc. 277) and Defendarsief in Support of Barring
Plaintiffs’ Clean Air Act Claims on the Basi$é Res Judicata and Mootness (Doc. 278).

l. PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND
A. Graff, et al. v. Haverhill North Coke Company, et al.

Plaintiffs Glenn Graff, Kelly Graff, Hdreth Maddox, and Peggy Maddox (collectively,
“Plaintiffs” or “the Graff Plaintiffs”) initiated this environmental citizen suit against Defendants
Haverhill North Coke Company (“Haverhill N&¥Y) and SunCoke Energy, Inc. (“SunCoke”), the
parent company of Haverhill North, on Septembg 2009. (Doc. 1.) A Haverhill North coke
processing plant (“the Facility”) operates in theinity of Plaintiffs’ real property. Plaintiffs
allege that certain excess emissions from taliy violate their righ$ under federal and state
law. Plaintiffs assert claims pursuanthe Clean Air Act (“CAA”), 42 U.S.C. § 7401 et
seq., the Resource Conservation and Reco¥ery*RCRA”), 42 U.S.C. § 6901 et seq., and
Ohio law.

Plaintiffs filed their First Amended Comiitéi on October 12, 2009. (2. 7.) Plaintiffs

assert the following causes of action:
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(1d.)

(2) Violation of the CAA (violation®f permits, the state implementation
plan, and regulations)

(2) Violation of the CAA (violations of the malfunction reporting
requirements in the state implementation plan)

(3) Violation of the CAA (violatiorof nuisance provisions in the state
implementation plan)

4) Violation of the RCRA

(5) Negligence

(6) Nuisance

(7 Trespass

(8) Ultrahazardous or Abnormally Dangerous Activity

(9) Negligent Infliction of Emotional Distress

(10) Intentional Inflicton of Emotional Distress

United Statesv. Gateway Energy & Coke Co., LLC

A separate action was filed on June 26, 200 #he United States, the State of Ohio, and

the State of lllinois (collect®ly, “the Governments”) againslaverhill Coke Company, LLC,

Gateway Energy Coke Company, LLC, and SunUekergy, Inc. (collectively, “the Illinois

Defendants”) for Clean Air Act vioteons at the Facility in Ohiand a second plant in Illinois.

U.S. v. Gateway Energy & Coke Co., LIND. 3:13-cv-616 (S.D. lll.). The following statement

of background facts was provided in a Memorandund Order dated November 7, 2014 in the

[llinois case:

[The Governments] seek injunctive relaeid civil penalties against GECC, HCC
and SunCoke for violations of [theAB, the lllinois Environmental Protection

Act, Ohio Revised Code chapter 3745, and the implementing regulations]. The
claims relate to two facilities — the “Gavay Facility” in Granite City, Illinois,
owned and operated by GECC and SunCoke and the “Haverhill Facility” in
Franklin Furnace, Ohio, owned aogerated by HCC and SunCoke. Both
facilities manufacture metallurgical colélizing the samdnorizontal heat

recovery coke oven technology tamguce coke and employ the same air
pollution control devices to minimize emissions from the cokemaking process.

In December 2008, the Governments issiinedfirst Notice of Violations
(“NOV”) for the alleged CAA violations ahe Haverhill Facility. Since that
time, the Governments issued numerous N@wvsiaverhill Facility and one for
the Gateway Facility. Because of the similarities of the facilities and the
violations, the Governmesinitiated negotiations itih defendants in 2010 to
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resolve the alleged violations. Sir@@10, the parties have participated in
extensive negotiations, exchanged maraftdrof the proposed consent decree
and exchanged many documents. The proposed consent decree culminated after a
years-long process of extensive ffintling, settlement discussion, and
independent agency evaluation of thegptial case against each defendant.
During this process, the United Stakesl numerous telephone calls and met in
person with counsel for the proposed mémnors [the Graffs and Maddoxes] at
their request to considenginformation the proposed intervenors might with to
[sic] provide regarding the Havalfacility. As the partes neared settlement, the
Governments, with defendants’ permissisinared a draft of the proposed consent
decree with the proposed intervenavko provided comments on October 9,
2012 and January 23, 2013. The [G]oweents carefully reviewed written
comments by the proposed intervesion the draft consent decree.

The same day the complaint was filec thnited States filed a notice of lodging
of the proposed consent decree in taise that would resolve defendants’ CAA
liability for all alleged Q\A violations, including redation of all NOVs, and for
future CAA violations asociated with installatio of the redundant Heat
Recovery System Generators (Doc. 3he proposed consent decree would
require: (1) the installation of procespugment to provide redundancy that will
allow hot cooking gases to be routedatpollution controtlevice instead of
vented directly to the atmospheretie event of equipment downtime; (2)
installation of a ontinuous emissions monitorrfeulfur dioxide at one bypass
vent per process unit (two at the Hei# Facility and one at the Gateway
Facility); (3) payment of a civil pwlty of $1.995 million, of which 1.27 million
will go to the United States, $575,000 te thtate of Illinois, and $150,000 to the
State of Ohio; and (4) performanceaoiead hazard abatement supplemental
environmental project at@st of $255,000 at the Gateway Facility. Thereafter,
the United States published that noticdoalging in the Federal Register for
public comments. The proposed interven@qguested extensions of time of the
comment period twice and the Govermigeallowed these requests; thus
extending the comment period to OctoBe2013. The proposed intervenors
timely filed comments. Also, the Governments received about 1800 pages of
additional material from the proposed invtenors after the oke of the comment
period.

(No. 3:13-cv-616, Doc. 45 at PagelD 818-20.)

As indicated in the excerpt, the Graff Pldiistsought to intervene in the lllinois case.
The Honorable David R. Herndon denied thetieimention in the Memorandum and Orded. (
at PagelD 827.) On November 10, 2014, Judgmdon entered theo@sent Decree. (No.

3:13-cv-616, Doc. 47.) It now govertthe operation of the Facility.



C. Current Dispute

The issue before the Court is the exterwlich the Illinois Conent Decree precludes
the Graff Plaintiffs from obtainingelief on the claims in this citizesuit. The parties agree that
the Consent Decree does not bar the non-CAA clatatsd in the First Amended Complaint.
(Doc. 276 at PagelD 6164.) Therefore, the GPddintiffs can proceed on the Fourth through
Tenth Causes of Action in the First Amended Complairhe parties disagree as to the extent to
which the Consent Decree bars the CAA claims-+rdgleaded in the First, Second, and Third
Causes of Action of the First Amended ComplaiRtaintiffs assert that the Consent Decree
should bar only the CAA claims in this suit tlesterlap with claims resolved in the Consent
Decree. Defendants contend that First, Secamd,Third Causes of Action should be dismissed
as barred by the preclusieéfect of the Consent Decrée.
. THE RELEVANT LEGA L STANDARDS AND THE CONSENT DECREE
A. Clean Air Act

The framework of the Clean Air Act is relewao this inquiry of whether Plaintiffs’
claims for CAA violations are barred by the Consent Decree entered in the lllinois case. “The
federal Clean Air Act is a model of coopevatifederalism [which] requires each State to
establish a state implementation plan (SIR)nbit emissions in accordance with national
ambient air quality standasdet by the federal EPAElIlis v. Gallatin Steel C9.390 F.3d 461,
467 (6th Cir. 2004) (citing 42 U.S.C. 88 7409(b)}hd 7410(a)(1)). Violations of a state SIP
can be remedied through fedeCAA enforcement actionsSee idat 475(citing 42 U.S.C.

§ 7604(a)(1) & (f)). “[T]he provisins of the particular stateXP determine what conduct is

! Defendants also contend that the Graff Plaintiffs’ CAA causes of action should be dismissed because the Graff
Plaintiffs will not be entitled to relief. This alterhae argument is more appropriate for summary judgment
briefing. The Court will defer considdien of the argument until that time.
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actionable under the CAA.Nat’l Parks Conservation Ass’n, Inc. v. Tenn. Valley Aut&0
F.3d 410, 418 (6th Cir. 2007).

The CAA authorizes citizen suits against “gog&yson” who is alleged to have violated or
be in violation of an emission standard amitation imposed by the CAA. 42 U.S.C. § 7604(a).
The plaintiffs in citizen suits “seek relief not on their own behalf but on behalf of society as a
whole.” Ellis, 390 F.3d at 477. The CAA serves primaglylic interests and “personalized”
remedies for citizens are not a prioritgl. “Congress . . . has provided interstitial role for
private parties in enforcing the statuted. at 475 (internal quotation and citation omitted).

Individual plaintiffs ae required to give notice of the ajied violations akeast sixty days
prior to filing suit. 42 U.S.C. 8 7604(b)(1)(ARlaintiffs cannot commence a citizen suit “if the
Administrator or State has comnoex and is diligently prosecog a civil actionn a court of
the United States or [of] a State to require coame with the standardplitation, or order, but
in any such action in a court thfe United States any person matgimene as a matter of right.”
42 U.S.C. § 7604(b)(1)(B). Subsection 7604(b)(1)(B)asdirectly applicale here because the
Graff Plaintiffs filed their citizen suit befote Governments institudehe lllinois suit.
B. Res Judicata Principles

Res judicata, or claim preclusion, bars thigdition of a claim when four elements are
met: (1) the prior decision was a final decismmthe merits; (2) the psent action is between
the same parties or their privies as those to the prior action; (3) the claim in the present action
was or should have been litigated in the prioraatand (4) an identity of the causes of action
exists between the prior and present acti@eeMitchell v. Chapman343 F.3d 811, 819 (6th

Cir. 2003);Kane v. Magna Mixer Cp71 F.3d 555, 560 (6th Cir. 1995).



The Consent Decree in the lllinois case fmal decision on the merits for purposes of
res judicata.SeeHuguley v. Gen. Motors Cor®99 F.2d 142, 146 (6th Cir. 1993) (stating that
consent decrees have a res judiedfiact). The Graff Plaintiffslo not dispute that they are in
privity with the State of Ohica party in the Illinois suitCf. Satsky v. Paramount Commc’ns,
Inc., 7 F.3d 1464, 1470 (10th Cir. 1993) (“When a state litigates common public rights, the
citizens of that state are representeguah litigation by the state and are bound by the
judgment.”). The Ohio Attorney General broug Illinois suit on behalbf “the People of
Ohio.” (No. 3:13-cv-616, Doc. 2 at PagelD 3Moreover, Judge Hadon found that the Graff
Plaintiffs “participat[ed] actively” in the Illin@ case “as if they were parties.” (No. 3:13-cv-
616, Doc. 45 at PagelD 819, 826.) They conduligh the Governments, submitted 1800 pages
of documents for the Governments to review, and submitted written comments about the
proposed consent decree before it was approved by Judge Herladpn. (

The primary dispute in this case involves whethe fourth element iset. “ldentity of
causes of action means an ‘identity of the facts creating the right of action and of the evidence
necessary to sustain each actiorMitchell, 343 F.3d at 819 n. 6 (quotiMgestwood Chem. Co.

v. Kulick,656 F.2d 1224, 1227 (6th Cir. 19819&e alsdHobart Corp. v. Dayton Power & Light
Co., 997 F. Supp. 2d 835, 849 (S.D. Ohio 2014) (sarhbg Sixth Circuit has explained that if
two claims arise from the same transactioarerbased on a common nucleus of operative facts,
then the claims share an identitydashould be brought in the same siNguyen ex rel. U.S. v.
City of Cleveland534 F. App’x 445, 451 (6th Cir. 2013.) However, when a “a plaintiff alleges
an ongoing course of harmful conduct, as witluisance . . . , the task of pinpointing the
transaction becomes meochallenging.”ld. at 452. A single course of conduct, such as “an

abatable nuisance[,] may freatly give rise to more than a single cause of actidmivlor v.



Nat’l Serv. Corp.349 U.S. 322, 329 (1955). “If a plaiffitsues a defendant more than once
based on an ongoing course of conduct, theridecof claim preclusn will typically not
prevent the plaintiff from assemty a cause of action that arose raffte first suit was decided.”
Nguyen 534 F. App’x at 452.
C. Effect of the Consent Decree on Res Judicata Analysis

“Generally speaking, when the contours @iri@ate plaintiff's suiand the Government's
suit coincide . . . the former must be dismisseellis, 390 F.3d at 476. However, “touchstone
of the res judicata effect” of a conse&lecree “is the consent decree itselll! at 473. “The
basically contractual nature of consent judgméatsied to general agreement that preclusive
effects should be measured by the intent efgrties.” 18A Fed. Prac. & Proc. Juris. § 4443
(2d ed.). Where the terms of a consent decree are ambiguous, theadisttistinterpretation
of the consent decree deserves substantial deferBifli.390 F.3d at 473. “[R]es judicata bars
only those violations covered by [a] penalty order” in environmental cases “[b]ecause each
permit violation gives rise ta separate cause of actiorthe Old-Timer Inc. v. Blackhawk-
Centr. City Sanitation Dist51 F. Supp. 2d 1109, 1118 (D. Colo. 19%@e also Citizens Legal
Envir. Action Network, Inc. v. Premium Standard Farms,, INo. 97-6073-CV-SJ-6, 2000 WL
220464, at *7 (W.D. Mo. Feb. 23, 2000) (stating BAA claims in a second lawsuit are barred
only to the extent that they “allege the precigdations” described in the first lawsuit because
“each violation of . . . the CAA involves itavn nucleus of operative facts”).

Therefore, the Court must examine the teofrithe Consent Decree the lllinois suit to
determine its preclusive effect on the Graff Riffisi claims here. The “express purpose” of the
parties for entering into the Consent Decree lwaadly described in paragraph 7 as being to

“further the objectives of the [CAA . . and with respect to théaverhill Facility, the objectives



of Chapter 3704 of the Ohio Revised Code."0(R:13-cv-616, Doc. 47 at PagelD 839.) The
Consent Decree also stated at paragraph 7[#jtiplans, reportsgonstruction, maintenance

and other obligations in thiSonsent Decree or resulting frahe activities required by this
Consent Decree shall have the objective of causing Defendants to come into and remain in full
compliance with the terms of igpplicable permits and the [Clean Air] Act, and Chapter 3704 of
the Ohio Revised Code for the Haverhill Facilityld.(at PagelD 839-40.)

Nonetheless, despite the broadly wordeadtye, the Consent Decree more narrowly
defined the scope of claims resolved in the ca3ee Consent Decree at paragraph 115 stated
that it “resolves the civil claims of the Uniteda&ts, the State of lllinois and the State of Ohio
through the Date of Lodging for tvlations alleged in the Cortgnt filed in this action, and
the violations alleged in the Notices of Viotatirelating to the Gateway and Haverhill facilities
sent to Defendants by EPA, lllinois EPA, and OBRA prior to the Date of Lodging referenced
in Appendix 3.” (d. at PagelD 890, 917.)Appendix 3 to the Consent Decree identified four
Notices of Violation (“NOVs”) issued to Havehhby the federal EPA and eleven NOVs issued
to Haverhill by the Ohio EPA and the Portsmouth Local Air Agenty. at PagelD 917.) Two
of the NOVs issued by the federal EPAdaseven of the NOVs issued by the Ohio
EPA/Portsmouth Local Air Agency were issued ptithe date the Graff Plaintiffs initiated the

instant suit against Defendants on September 14, 2009. (

2 The Consent Decree also resolves claims of the Bments “for the regulatory and permit provisions for

which violations are alleged in the Complaint resulting from Defendants’ performance of the requirements set forth
in Section IV.A (Redundant HRSG Project), conditioned upon satisfactory perfoernéithe requirements set forth
therein. Provided that Defendantsfpem the requirements of Section.W(Redundant HRSG Project) at the
Middletown Facility, the Consent Decree would then resoleecibil claims of the United States and the State of

Ohio for emissions violations during the time periddnd resulting from Defendants’ performance of the
requirements set forth in Section IV.A (RedundanS@RProject) at the Middletown Facility, conditioned upon
satisfactory performance of summuirements.” (Case No. 3:13-cv-616,cD47 at PagelD 890.) Neither party
contends that the Redundant IR Project issue is relevaotthe res judicata issue.
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Paragraph 117 addressed the res judidéatef the ConsdrDecree as to “any
subsequent administrative or judicproceeding initiated by the Wed States, lllinois or Ohio.”
(Id. at PagelD 891.) It stated that lllinois Dediants shall not assert or maintain a claim or
defense based on principles of waiver, res judicata, preclusion, totary defenses based
upon any contention that the claims raised ley[@overnments] in the subsequent proceeding
were or should have been brought in the [lllincase], except with respect to claims that have
been specifically resolved pursuamtParagraph 115 of this Decreeld.] Paragraph 117,
therefore, narrowed traditionalsr@uidicata principles bstating that the Coesit Decree only has
a preclusive effect as to the claims actualgoheed in the Consentdaree. Defendants assert
that paragraph 117 was not diredyplicable to the issue of wihet res judicata bars the Graff
Plaintiffs’ claims because their claims are baiught by the Governments nor are they asserted
subsequent to the Consent Decree. Nonetheles§ ourt already has concluded that the Graff
Plaintiffs are in privity with théState of Ohio. Moreover, it isstructive that the intent of the
Consent Decree as expressed in paragraphsntilb1a was to specificallymit the res judicata
effect to the claims for violations assertedhe lllinois Complant and in the NOVs.

Paragraph 118 provided tH&tefendants are r@snsible for achievig and maintaining
complete compliance with all applicable fede&thte, and local laws, regulations, and permits;
and Defendants’ compliance with this Cortseacree shall be no defense to any action
commenced pursuant to any such laws, regulatmmgermits, except as set forth hereind. (
at PagelD 891-92.) It statedtiuer that the Governments “do nby their consent to entry of
this Consent Decree, warrant or aver in any reatimt Defendants’ compliance with any aspect

of this Consent Decree will result inropliance with provisions of the CAA.”Id. at PagelD

892.) Paragraph 119 stated that “[e]xcept as otherwise provided by law, this Consent Decree . . .



does not limit the rightef third parties, not party to thiSonsent Decree, against Defendants.”
(1d.)

The Court reads the foregoing provisionshaf Consent Decree linit the res judicata
effect of the Consent Decree such that itdnaarrower preclusive effetftan traditional res
judicata principles. Traditional res judicata principles limit parties and their privities from
bringing both claims which were asserted ireanier lawsuit and claims which should have
been asserted in an earlier lawsi@ee Nguyerb34 F. App’x at 451, 453 & n. 2 (stating that a
plaintiff is barred from asseny in a second lawsuit CAA claimghich he should have asserted
in the first lawsuit)Mitchell, 343 F.3d at 819 (stating res judicata elements). However, the res
judicata effect in this case, asHtis, is governed by the terms of an applicable consent decree.
The parties in the lllinois case entered iatGonsent Decree with narrow provisions on res
judicata. The Consent Decree did not resolvexaliting CAA violations, but in relevant respect
it resolved those claims for violations allegedhe Complaint and the NOVs. This narrow res
judicata effect left open an avenue for thefGPdaintiffs to pursue claims for CAA violations
which were not alleged by the federal EPA, @t@o EPA, or the Portsmouth Local Air Agency
in the NOVs and were not alleged by thev&rnments in the lllinois Complaint.

. ANALYSIS
A. Overlapping Violations in the First Cause of Action and the Second Cause of Action

The Graff Plaintiffs agree th#e following violations ofthe CAA alleged in the First
Cause of Action of their First Amended Complaitgo were alleged in the lllinois case or the
NOVs:

e Exceedences of Sulfur Dioxide aRdrticulate Emissions Limits for

Bypass Vents (Coke Batteries A, B, C, and D - Units P901 and P902)
(Doc. 7, 1 120-129);
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e Sulfur Dioxide Emission Limits Vi@tions from the Waste Gas Stack
(Coke Batteries A and B — Unit P901 and Coke Batteries C and D- Unit
P902) (Id., 1 130-136);

e Violating Continuous Emission Monitoring (CEM) Requirements (Coke
Batteries A and B - Unit P901 anak® Batteries C and D — Unit P902)
(Id., 7 154-158);

¢ Violations of Requirements to Not Open More Than One Bypass Vent
Simultaneously, and Excessive Bgpa/enting (P901 and P902) (Id.,
159-162);

e Exceedences of Bypass Venting Lin{iB901 and P902) (Id.,  163-167);

e Exceeding Maximum Daily Wet Coal dge Rate of 2400 ton[s] per day
limit for P901 and P902 (Id., 1 177-180); FGD Baghouse Pressure Drops
Outside the Specified Permit Ran@®01 and P902) (Id.,  181-184);

e Common Tunnel Temperature Outsifpecified Permit Range (P901)
(Id., 1 189-192); and

e Excessive Downtime for Sorbet Trafonitoring System (P902) (Id., §
193-196).

(Doc. 277-2 at PagelD 6198-99.)

Plaintiffs have agreed not seek relief on the overlappil@AA violations in the First
Cause of Action. (Doc. 276 at PagelD 6164.) Siryi@laintiffs have agred not to seek relief
for the alleged CAA violations ithe Second Cause of Actiond.] However, they ask that the
Court not dismiss claims based on the overlappiolgtions because theolations are “relevant
to tort claims.” (Doc. 277 at PagelD 6169 n.4.)

The Court will not strike any factual allegans in the First Amended Complaint.
However, the Court will dismiss thelsclaims stated in paragraphs 120-29, 130-36, 154-58,
159-62, 163—-67, 177-80, 181-84, 189-92, and 193-96 of the First Cause of Action and the
entirety of the Second Cause of Action. Disalof these CAA claims should not hamper the

Graff Plaintiffs’ ability to seek relief on their common law claims.
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B. Purportedly Non-Overlapping Violations in the First Cause of Action

The Graff Plaintiffs contend that multiplatsclaims within the First Cause of Action are
not barred by the lllinois Consent Decree. Plaintiffs contend that the following categories of
violations were not alleged indgHllinois case or the resolved NOVSs:

e Violations of the PM/PM10 hourly eissions rate for HRSG bypass vent
stacks (Graff Compl., Doc. 7, 1 137-141, p. 31);

e Violations of the visible emissiorsnit for the P902 main stack (Id.,
142-145, p. 31-32);

e Failure to employ required contnmleasures and visible emissions
violations for the coal and coke haimgj, storage, and transfer operations
(Id., 1 117-119, 146-153, p. 28, 32-33);

e Failing to visually inspect eaaven prior to pushing (Id., 1 117-119,
168-176, p. 28, 35-36);

e Failure to maintain hot car multiclone pressure outside specified permit
range (Id., § 185-188, p. 38);

e Failure to process waste gas withe spray dryers (Id., § 197-200, p. 39);
and

e Failure to process waste gaghwuse of a baghouse (Id., 1 201-203, p.
40).

(Doc. 277-2 at PagelD 6198.) In respori3efendants provided a table summarizing each
subclaim in the First Cause Attion and then listing the purportedly comparable violations
asserted in the NOVs and thinbis Complaint. (Doc. 278-ét PagelD 6801-12.) The Court
will examine each subclaim separately.

1. Paragraphs 137-41 of the First Amended Complaint

The Graff Plaintiffs allege in this subclaim that the Defendants violated the Facility’s
PSD Permit limit for PM/PMyo hourly emission standards frame P901 bypass vent stacks.
Plaintiffs further allege that the PM/Rdemissions exceeded the emissions limit of 12.86
pounds per hour. (Doc. 7 at PagelD 79.) ERA alleged a similar violation of PM/PiM

emission rates in the February 17, 2010 NOV. (Doc. 278-1 at PagelD 6564, 6567—68, 6570.)

% The PSD Permit is a “prevention of significant deteriordtpermit. The Graff Plaintiffs allege that federal
regulations under the CAA, including inter alia 40 C.F.R. § 52.21, preclude theuctinstof new major sources or
major modifications without a PSD permit. (Doc. 7 at PagelD 60.)
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The Consent Decree at paragaph 115 resolved/itietions alleged in i Notices of Violation
relating to the Gateway and Hak#l facilities sent to Defedants by EPA.” (No. 3:13-cv-616,
Doc. 47 at PagelD 890, 917.) The Court finds thatsubclaim stated in Paragraphs 137—-41 of
the First Amended Complaintlmrred by the preclusive effect of the Consent Decree.

2. Paragraphs 142-45 of the First Amended Complaint

The Graff Plaintiffs allege in this sulaan that the PSD Permit “prohibits visible
particulate emissions from theaste gas exhaust stack(s) from exceeding 10% opacity as a 6-
minute average.” (Doc. 7 at PagelD 79.) Thayher allege thaDefendants repeatedly
exceeded that limit.1d.)

Defendants assert that this subclaim overlajph the allegations made in the July 22,
2010 NOV issued by the EPA. (Doc. 278-1 at PagelD 6602—-11; Doc. 278-6 at PagelD 6804.)
The cover letter to the NOV statdsat Haverhill Northviolated “provisions in its PSD permit
that govern daily coal charge limits andyhause pressure drop requirements from units P901
and P902 coke batteries.” (Doc. 278-1 at PagelD 6602.) The NOV likewise discusses daily wet
coal usage rates and pressure drops in theewastexhaust baghousehe NOV does not allege
violations of opacity limitgor particulate emissions.

Defendants also assert that this subclaim overlaps with the Fifteenth Claim for Relief in
the lllinois case. (Doc. 278-6 at PagelD 680%itje Governments alleged a violation of
baghouse pressure drop regulatistaed in the Haverhill Permiit the Fifteenth Claim. (No.
3:13-cv-616, Doc. 2 at PagelD 33-34.)

The Consent Decree states that it resobvdg the claims of the Governments for
violationsalleged in the Complaint and in the NO{#o. 3:13-cv-616, Doc. 47 at PagelD 890.)

To date, the parties have mbvided the Court with sufficient information for the Court to
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speculate whether baghouse pressure drops ivéglelated to the opacity of particulate
emissions. Whether or not thesues overlap as a factual mattiesuffices for now for the Court
to determine that neither the EPA in thdy 22, 2010 NOV nor the Governments in their
Fifteenth Claim alleged a violation of the P8Brmit’'s opacity limits for waste gas exhaust
stacks.

The Court finds that the Consent Decreerditipurport to resolva claim for violation
of the opacity limits for waste gas exhaust stadksis subclaim is not barred by the preclusive
effect of the Consent Decree. Allowing the GRifintiffs to bringthis non-overlapping claim
in this suit is consistent with statutory erdement scheme of the CAA where private citizens
play an “interstitial role . .. in enforcing the statute.Ellis, 390 F.3d at 475rfternal quotation
and citation omitted).

3. Paragraphs 117-19 and 146-53 of the First Amended Complaint

The Graff Plaintiffs allege several typesvadlations in this subclaim. They allege
general violations of “emission limits and operational standards” set forth in the Facility’s PSD
Permit. (Doc. 7 at PagelD 76.) They assext apecific violations of (1) the PSD Permit and
Permit to Install requirements to use “best dé control measurdkat are sufficient to
minimize or eliminate emissions of fugitive dust from coke and coal storage piles|[;]” (2) the PSD
Permit and Permit to Install requirements to ‘Umsst available control measures for the load-in
and load-out operations associated with catge@al storage pilesf;[3) the PSD Permit and
Permit to Install requirements to have “no visible emissions except for one minute in an hour for
coke and coal storage piles[;]” (4) the PSD Peend Permit to Install requirement to have “no

visible particulate emissions of fugitive dusatliexceed 20% opacity as a 3 minute average for
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coke and breeze handling and processing, identified as emissions unit F004.” (Doc. 7 at PagelD
80.)

Defendants state that this subclaim overlajl violations stated in the July 19, 2005
NOV and the August 19, 2008 NOV issued by thedpoouth Local Air Agency. (Doc. 278-6 at
PagelD 6805.) The Court disagrees. The PartgimLocal Air Agency alleged violations of
monitoring and record keepimgquirements in the July 19, 2005 NOV. (Doc. 278-1 at PagelD
6519-21.) The Portsmouth Local Air Agency allég@lations of the requirement to report
malfunctions in the August 19, 2008 NOMd.(at PagelD 6531-32.) dlid not directly allege
violations of best available control measunsiards or visible emission standards in either
NOV. Emissions were discussed in relatiormonitoring, record keeping, and reporting
requirements.

Defendants also assert ttia¢ subclaim overlaps with the Governments’ allegations in
the Sixteenth Claim of the Illinois ComplaintDoc. 278-6 at PagelD 6805.) The Court
disagrees with this argument as well. The Gorents alleged a violation of the requirements
to report malfunctions in the coke screeninghmause in the Sixteentlaim of the lllinois
Complaint. (No. 3:13-cv-616, @02 at PagelD 34-35.)

The violations of emission limits and spgonal standards asserted in §{ 117-19 and
146-53 do not overlap with the violations resoliethe Consent Decree and they are not barred
by res judicata.

4, Paragraphs 117-19 and 168-76 of the First Amended Complaint

The Graff Plaintiffs again allege in thgsibclaim general violations of “emission limits
and operational standards” set faritthe Facility’s PSD Permit. (Doc. 7 at PagelD 76.) More

specifically, the Graff Plaitiffs allege violations of requements for defendants to visually
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inspect each coke oven prior to “pushing” anddbd“push” the oven unss the visual inspection
shows that there is not smoke in the open space above the coke bed and that there is an
unobstructed view of the door oretbpposite side of the oven. (Doc. 7 at PagelD 83-84.) The
requirements arise from the PSD Permit amd4® C.F.R. 8§ 63.7293(a). The regulation provides
as follows:

(a) You must meet the requirements in paaphs (a)(1) and (2) of this section for
each new and existing non-recovery coke oven battery.

(1) You must visually inspect each owverior to pushing by opening the door

damper and observing the bed of coke.

(2) Do not push the oven unless the visngpection indicates that there is no

smoke in the open space above the coke bed and that there is an unobstructed

view of the door on the opposite side of the oven.

40 C.F.R. 8 63.7293. The Graff Plaintiffs alsogde failure to maintain records regarding
compliance with the requirement for visual iasppons before pushing a coke oven as required
by 40 C.F.R. § 63.7334(c). (Doc. 7 at PagelD 84.)

Defendants contend that this subclaimriaps with the August 19, 2008 NOV in which
the Portsmouth Local Air Agency alleged viotats of the requirement to report malfunctions.
(Doc. 278-1 at PagelD 6531-32; Doc. 278-atjelD 6808.) The Portsmouth Local Air
Agency did not allege violations of regulatiaesjuiring the visual inspéons of coke ovens.
The violations asserted in paragraphs 168—76 dovestap with the violations asserted in the
Consent Decree and they are batred by res judicata.

5. Paragraphs 185—88 of the First Amended Complaint

The Graff Plaintiffs allege a violation ¢ie PSD Permit requirement that the hot car
multiclone pressure be within the two to sixh range for P901. (Doc. 7 at PagelD 86.)

Defendants contend that this subclaim cveslwith the July 19, 2005 and the May 17, 2012

NOVs issued by the Portsmouth Local Air Agency. (Doc. 278-6 at PagelD 6809.)
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The Portsmouth Local Air Agency dissed in the July 19, 2005 NOV a situation in
which Haverhill North failed to record or docent pressure drops the “pushing multiclone
dust collector.” (Doc. 278-1 &agelD 6519-21.) However, the Portsmouth Local Air Agency
did not allege violations of the PSD Permgitjuirement regarding the correct range for
multiclone pressure in the NOV. Rather, it ali@gelations of monitong and record keeping
requirements. Iq.)

The Portsmouth Local Air Agency adjed in the May 17, 2012 NOV a multitude of
substantive requirements and reporting requiresi@tibwing a site inspection. (Doc. 278-1 at
PagelD 6618-23.) The most pertinent violatialsged were for “[flailure to record the
pressure drop across each multiclone during each push.at 621.) The Air Agency chose to
address the issue noted as a violation of¢kerding requirements only for multiclone pressure
drops, not as a violation of alsstantive requirement to maintain the pressure within a certain
range. It did not impose a remedy designeahteliorate any problem with the multiclone
pressure measurement.

The Consent Decree states that it resobhe claims of the Governments Yalations
alleged in the Complaint and in the NOVs. (9dl.3-cv-616, Doc. 47 at PagelD 890.) Neither
the July 19, 2005 NOV nor the May 17, 2012 NOV dsska violatiorof the PSD Permit
requirement that the hot car multiclone presfgrevithin the two to six inch range for P901.
The Court will not dismiss this subclaim as barred by the Consent Decree.

6. Paragraphs 197-200 and 201-03 of the First Amended Complaint

The Graff Plaintiffs allege in paragias 197—200 of the First Amended Complaint that
Haverhill North violated the PSD Permit requirement that “waste gas from the coke gas be

processed with the use of a lime dryer for uRR91 and P902.” (Doc. 7 at PagelD 87.) They

17



similarly allege in paragraphs 201-13 that HaileNorth violated the PSD Permit requirement
that “waste gas from coke gas fm®cessed with the use of a &#rdryer with a baghouse in order
to control PM/PM,.” (Doc. 7 at PagelD 88.) Defendardssert that there are comparable
allegations in the May 7, 2012 NOV, other NOVs, andeveral claims for relief in the Illinois
Complaint. (Doc. 278-&t PagelD 6810-12.)

Defendants point to the following allegatiin the May 17, 2012 NOV as being relevant
to these subclaims: “failure to report 8®2 exceedance during FGD malfunction on August 8,
2011 and January 7, 2012 for emissions uni@lRthd P902, respectively.” (Doc. 278-1 at
PagelD 6619.) The Court acknowledges thatdks$ sufficient information at this time to
understand the relationship, if any, between (1) tnaste gas from coke gas is processed and
(2) SGor PM/PM emissions from FGD malfunctions. Wever, the Court can determine that
the Portsmouth Local Air Agency in the redat portion of the M7, 2012 NOV asserted a
violation of a reporting requirement for @xceedances.Id; at 6619, 6620-21.) The Air
Agency did not assert a violati of a requirement to process waste gas from coke gas with a
lime dryer. Similarly, the other NOVs identifideoy Defendants are for violations of bypass
venting limits and the operatiaf more than one vent stackDoc. 278-6 at PagelD 6811-12.)
Defendants do not even argue that the NOVgaligolations of the PSD Permit requirement
that waste gas from coke gas begassed with the use of a lime dryer.

Defendants also assert that the Govemisixmade a comparable allegation in the
Complaint in the lllinois case in the Sixth, Setle Eighth, and Tenth Claims for Relief. (Doc.
278-6 at PagelD 6810-12.) The Governmentsrsheiolations of Permit regulations
governing the hours per year thgtpass venting can occur, $€missions from bypass vent

stacks, PM emissions from bypass vent staitksoperation of moréhan one HRSG bypass
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vent stack at a time. (No. 3:13-cv-616, Doc. 2 at PagelD 24-29.) The Complaint does not allege
a violation of the PSD Permit requirement tvaste gas from coke gas be processed with the
use of a lime dryer.

The Court concludes that t@®mnsent Decree does not purportdsolve violations of the
PSD Permit requirement that waste gas from cokdoggorocessed with the use of a lime dryer.
These subclaims are not baftey the Consent Decree.
C. Third Cause of Action

Defendants assert that the Third Caus@ation is barred in whole by the Illinois
Consent Decree. The Graff Plaintiffs allegeraiisance in violation of Ohio Administrative
Code § 3745-15-07 in the Third Cause of Acti The air nuisance regulation provides in
relevant part as follows:

[T]he emission or escape into the operfram any source or sources whatsoever,

of smoke, ashes, dust, dirt, grime, acfdsjes, gases, vapors, odors, or any other

substances or combinations of substanicesuch manner or in such amounts as

to endanger the health, safety or wedfaf the public, or cause unreasonable

injury or damage to property, istedy found and declared to be a public

nuisance. It shall be unlawful for apgrson to cause, permit or maintain any

such public nuisance.
Ohio Admin. Code 8§ 3745-15-07(A). The Graféitiffs assert thathe Consent Decree does
not resolve their air nuisance cfe. In support, the Graff Plaifis offer the Declaration of
Robin Burgess, one of theittarneys, who asserts that nasfehe Haverhill NOVs listed in
Appendix 3 of the Consent Decree allege a vimtaof Ohio Administrative Code § 3745-15-07.
(Doc. 277-5 at PagelD 6241Defendants disagree. Defendaassert that the August 19, 2008

NOV issued by the Portsmouth Local Air Agerspecifically addressed nuisance conditions on

Plaintiffs’ property. (Doc. 278-6 at PagelD 6815.)
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The August 19, 2008 NOV alleges conditions whaplpear to constitute an air nuisance
violation of Ohio Administative Code § 3745-15-07(A):

On July 14, 2008, | collected samples of bibih coal and coke fines/breeze from

Haverhill North. In response to amplaint investigation on Back Road, |

collected samples of the black dust oa tomplainant’s property. Analysis of

the complainant’s sample via polarizilight microscope found the particulate

size of all three samples to be similar and the dust sample collected from the

complainant’s property was found to comgpanore closely to the Haverhill North

coke fines/breeze sample. The analysedsect indicator that the continued

malfunctions of the Coke Screenibgghouse are impacting the surrounding

residents.

(Doc. 278-1 at PagelD 6531-32.) However, thadPaouth Local Air Agency did not cite the
company for a violation of Ohio Adinistrative Code 8§ 3745-15-07(A).

Rather, the Portsmouth Air Agency cited Haverhill North for a failure to report
malfunctions in the Coke Screening baghouseafation of Ohio Administrative Code § 3745-
15-06, a regulation addressing the malfunctioegqfipment, scheduled maintenance, and
reporting requirements.ld; at PagelD 6531.) The NOV addressed not only the July 14, 2008
situation described in the excerpt above,ddsib incidents of baghouse malfunctions on July 6,
2008 and July 15, 2008. The Portsmouth Local Aiedgy chose to address the black dust issue
as one resulting in equipment malfunctions and constituting failures to report. It imposed a
remedy pursuant to Ohio Administratived® 8 3745-15-06(D) designed to address a
malfunction violation. Id. at PagelD 6531-32.) The Portsmouth Local Air Agency neither
categorized the issue identifiedasiolation of theair nuisance regulation contained in Ohio
Administrative Code § 3745-15-07 nor imposeremedy for a nuisance violation.

The Consent Decree states that it res®bhe claims of the Governments vaylations

alleged in the Complaint and in the NOVs. (I8dl3-cv-616, Doc. 47 at PagelD 890.) The

August 19, 2008 NOV did not allege a violatiortloé air nuisance reguian. Accordingly, the
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Court concludes that the Graffdfitiffs’ air nuisance claims std in the Third Cause of Action
are barred by the Consent Decree because ppantaclaims were made in the August 19, 2008
NOV.

Defendants similarly argue that the Th@duse of Action should be barred because
numerous other NOVs contain statements desgrihealth concerns caused by emissions.
(Doc. 278-6 at PagelD 6815-17.) The NOVs, howedemot allege air nuisance violations of
Ohio Administrative Code 3745-15-07. Fetample, the December 8, 2008 NOV was issued
for a violation of sulfur dioxide emission limits and a failure to report a baghouse malfunction.
(Doc. 278-1 at PagelD 6536—-43.) The Aa#sl, 2009 NOV was issued for a violation of
provisions in its PSD permit &b govern bypass ventingld(at PagelD 6544-53.) The February
17, 2010 NQV asserts violations of PSD permit pimrs governing bypass venting, emissions
limits, and continuous emissions monitoring standarhik.a{ PagelD 6564—73.) The analysis
of the other NOVs is similar. To repeat, thejtgicata effect of the Consent Decree is limited
to those claims for violatioralleged in the lllinois Complairand in the NOVs. Defendants
have failed to prove that the Gamenents alleged air nuisance violations in either the Complaint
or in the NOVs. Accordingly, the Graff Plaintifffhird Cause of Action is not barred.
V.  CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the subclaims stated in paragraphs 120-29, 130-36, 137-41,
154-58, 159-62, 163—-67, 177-80, 181-84, 189-92, and 193-96 of the First Cause of Action are
DISMISSED as precluded by the Consent Decrethalllinois case.The Second Cause of
Action isDISMISSED. The subclaims stated in paragraphs 117-19, 142-45, 146-53, 168-76,

185—-88, 197-200, and 201-03 of the First Cause of ActioN@ieDISMISSED. The Third
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Cause of Action iNOT DISMISSED. Finally, by agreement of étparties, the Fourth through
Tenth Causes of Action aMOT DISMISSED.

IT 1S SO ORDERED.

S/Susan J. Dlott
Judge Susan J. Dlott
United States District Court
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